No. S230051

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA

FACEBOOK, INC., et al., *Petitioners*,

 \mathbf{V} .

SUPERIOR COURT OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA, SUPREME COURT SAN FRANCISCO

Respondent.

JAN 15 2016

DERRICK D. HUNTER and LEE SULLIVAN,

Frank A. McGuire Clerk

Real Parties in Interest.

Deputy

REAL PARTIES LEE SULLIVAN AND DERRICK HUNTER'S OPENING BRIEF ON THE MERITS

From the Published Opinion of the Court of Appeal, First Appellate District, Division Five, No. A144315

San Francisco San Francisco Superior Court Nos. 13035657, 13035658.) The Honorable Bruce Chan, Judge, Dept. 22

JANELLE E. CAYWOOD

(CBN: 189980)

3223 Webster Street

San Francisco CA, 94123

ISSUES PRESENTED

- 1.) Are criminal defendants constitutionally entitled to *pretrial* access to social media records sought by subpoena that are necessary for a fair trial, to present a complete defense, to effective assistance of counsel, to compulsory process, and to confront and cross-examine witnesses as guaranteed by Fifth, Sixth, and Fourteenth Amendments of the United States Constitution, or can social media records only be subpoenaed *during trial* as the Court of Appeal held below?
- 2.) Should this Court overrule *People v. Hammon* (1997) 15 Cal.4th 117, because it was wrongly decided on constitutional grounds and because delaying access to records necessary to defend a case until the middle of trial does not promote the orderly administration of justice? Alternatively, should this Court limit *Hammon* to records subject to the psychotherapist-patient privilege under Evidence Code section 1014?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Real parties in interest, Lee Sullivan and Derrick Hunter, are indicted and awaiting trial for the murder of Joaquan Rice (Pen. Code § 187) and the attempted murder (Pen Code § 664/187) of minor, B.K. The charges stem from a drive-by shooting that occurred on June 24, 2013, at a bus stop located in the Bayview District of San Francisco. The San Francisco District Attorney's theory of the case is that the crimes were committed for the benefit of "Big Block" an alleged criminal street gang. Quincy H.,

Gang allegations pursuant to Penal Code sections 12022.53(d), 120022.53(e)(1), and Penal Code section 186.22 (b)(1), as well as other

Derrick Hunter's 14-year old brother, confessed to the shooting to police inspectors shortly after it occurred, explaining that he shot Mr. Rice because he feared Mr Rice would kill him first if he did not act. According to Quincy, Mr. Rice repeatedly threatened and bullied him at his job, at his home, and on social media, including tagging him in violent posts on Facebook and Instagram. Quincy told police that Mr. Sullivan was not in the vehicle when the shooting occurred. Although the shooting occurred in front of a crowd, no eyewitnesses placed Mr. Sullivan at the scene. ² (1 AE 124-128, 134-137.)

The sole witness who implicates Mr. Sullivan in the incident is Ms. Lee, Mr. Sullivan's jilted former girlfriend who had rented the vehicle used in the shooting and who was detained by police driving alone in the car seven minutes after the shooting occurred. Several eyewitnesses told police a woman was driving the vehicle when shots were fired. Importantly, Ms. Lee did not implicate Mr. Sullivan in the shooting until several months after the incident, when police threatened to charge Ms. Lee with murder if she did not implicate Mr. Sullivan. (1 AE 87-88.)

In preparation for jury trial, counsel for Mr. Sullivan served thirdparty subpoenas duces tecum (Pen. Code, §1326) on Facebook, Twitter, and Instagram seeking records from the social media accounts held by the

enhancements were alleged.

Quincy was tried in juvenile court for the murder of Mr. Rice and attempted murder of Benjanay K. The petition was sustained on all counts.

deceased alleged victim, Mr. Rice, as well as Ms. Lee. (1 AE 12-18, 53-56.)

Mr. Sullivan simultaneously attempted to serve Ms. Lee with subpoena

duces tecum seeking production of her social media records, but was unable
to locate her for service either in person or through the San Francisco

District Attorney despite diligent efforts. (1 AE 107.)

Facebook, Instagram, and Twitter, moved to quash the subpoenas on grounds that disclosure is prohibited under the Stored Communications Act (hereafter "SCA") set forth in 18 U.S.C. § 2701, et. seq. The social media providers argued that the SCA is an absolute bar to producing records to criminal defendants, and that petitioners need only respond to search warrants or court orders obtained by the police or prosecutorial agencies. (1 AE 1-8.) Real party, Sullivan, filed an Opposition to social media providers' Motions to Quash, asserting that the SCA must yield to a criminal defendant's constitutional right to compulsory process, to present a complete defense, and to due process guaranteed by the Fifth, Sixth, and Fourteenth Amendments to the United States Constitution. Real party, Sullivan, made a detailed offer of proof as to the relevance of the records sought and requested that the records be produced for an in camera review by respondent court. Specifically, counsel for Sullivan asserted Ms. Lee's social media records were relevant to impeach her with prior acts of violence as well as to show bias, and to corroborate Sullivan's defense that she falsely implicated him in the murder because she was in a jealous rage. Counsel for Sullivan also made a good cause showing the Mr. Rice's records were relevant to impeach the prosecution's gang expert and because

the records are affirmative evidence demonstrating the shooting was not gang-related. (1 AE 84-105.)³

On January 7, 2015, respondent court, the Honorable Bruce Chan, issued a tentative ruling denying petitioners' Motions to Quash.

On January 22, 2015, the day before jury trial was to commence, respondent court affirmed the tentative ruling and denied petitioners' Motions to Quash ruling that notwithstanding the SCA, defendants, Sullivan and Hunter, have an independent constitutional right to access materials necessary to defend their case. Respondent court found that social media providers' argument that it should be excused from producing the information sought by the defendant on the grounds that the information was available from other sources was not compelling in light of the fact that Mr. Rice was dead and Ms. Lee could not be forced to authenticate her social media posts under the Fifth Amendment because they were incriminating in nature. Respondent court ordered the records produced for *in camera* review under Penal Code section 1326 on February 27, 2015. (1 AE 264-276; Supp. AE 286-287.)

On February 24, 2015, Facebook, Instagram, and Twitter filed a

In support of his Opposition, Mr. Sullivan submitted a declaration from Quincy H.'s attorney, Rebecca Young, who stated that Quincy H. was denied his constitutional right to due process and to present a complete defense at his separate juvenile trial for the murder and attempted murder of Mr. Rice and Ms. K, respectively, because when Ms. Lee was called to testify as a witness, she refused to authenticate her social media posts that the defense had gathered in which Ms. Lee threatened others with violence. Counsel for Quincy H. was unable to lay a foundation to admit the records into evidence per the trial judge's ruling and the critical defense evidence was not admitted at trial. (1 AE 196-197.)

petition for writ of mandate and request for a stay of the production order in the Court of Appeal, First Appellate District, asserting that the respondent court abused its discretion in denying petitioners' Motion to Quash.

On February 26, 2015, the Court of Appeal issued a stay of respondent court's production order pending consideration of the petition. Sullivan submitted an answer which Hunter joined. An order to show cause to the respondent court was issued on March 30, 2015. Real party, Sullivan, filed a return to which Hunter joined. After briefing by the parties and amicus counsel, the Court of Appeal granted the petition for writ of mandate and issued a published opinion on September 8, 2015 (Exhibit A,) holding that although Hunter and Sullivan may be constitutionally entitled to social media records at trial notwithstanding the SCA, under *People v. Hammon* (1997) 15 Cal.4th 117, they had no constitutional right to pretrial access to social media records under the Compulsory Process Clause, the Due Process Clause, or the Sixth Amendment's Confrontation Clause.

On October 19, 2015, real party, Sullivan, filed a petition for review in this Court, which Hunter joined, seeking review of the Court of Appeal's published opinion that criminal defendants are not constitutionally entitled to subpoena social media records pretrial even upon a showing of good cause, even following an *in camera* review by respondent court, and requesting that *Hammon* be overruled or limited. Social media providers filed an answer to the petition for review on November 9, 2015. Real party, Sullivan, filed a reply on November 19, 2015. On December 16, 2015, this Court granted the petition for review.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

On June 24, 2013, at 12:55 pm, a green Ford Escape, rented by, Renesha Lee, passed by a bus stop located at the intersection of Westpoint and Middleburg Streets in San Francisco. Shots were fired from inside the vehicle by two shooters. Jaquan Rice, Jr., (aka "Pistol Poppin Dutch") was killed and his girlfriend, Ms. K, a minor, was seriously injured. Ms. K did not see who shot her. Ms. Lee's vehicle was identified by surveillance video and stopped by San Francisco police at 1:02 p.m, seven minutes after the shooting occurred at the intersection of George Court and Ingalls. Ms. Lee was alone in the car. (1 AE 87.)

Although the videos of the scene captured the shooting, no arrests were made because of the poor film quality. (1 AE 107.) The videos show one individual wearing a light colored hooded sweatshirt, shooting a hand gun from the rear window of the drivers side. A second individual wearing a black hat, jacket, and pants, exited the rear passenger side door and shot a hand gun with a large magazine attached, from behind the rear of the vehicle. The driver's was not visible because the window was rolled up. (1 AE 87-88.)

Quincy H., who was 14 years-old, confessed to the shooting when detained by police after several eyewitnesses identified him as one of the shooters. Quincy H. told the officers that he shot Mr. Rice because Mr. Rice repeatedly threatened him at his job, at his home, and on social media, including Facebook and Instagram. Mr. Rice tagged Quincy H. and others in a video with guns in it on Instagram which scared Quincy. He believed

Mr. Rice would kill him if he did not act first. Quincy told police that Mr. Sullivan was <u>not</u> in the car when the shooting occurred. He identified the other shooter as "Johnson." (1 AE 124-128, 134-137.)

Ms. Lee is Mr. Sullivan's ex-girlfriend and the only witness that connects him to the shooting. Ms. Lee gave multiple disparate accounts about what transpired when she was interrogated by the police in the months following the June 24, 2013, shooting. She initially told police that a person she identified as "Man Man" and three male companions approached her shortly after shots were fired to get them away from the scene. However, on August 10, 2013, when the police threatened to charge her with murder if she did not implicate Mr. Sullivan, Ms. Lee said Mr. Sullivan was with Quincy and Derrick Hunter when they borrowed her car and dropped her off at her home a few minutes before the shooting. Ms. Lee has at all times denied being in the car when the shooting occurred despite that she was in the only person in the car when it was stopped and several percipient witnesses told the police a woman was driving the car when shots were fired. (1 AE 88.)

None of the percipient witnesses at the bus stop placed Mr. Sullivan in the vehicle or near the crime scene when the shooting occurred. (1 AE 88.)

At the grand jury hearing, the prosecution's gang expert, Leonard Broberg, of San Francisco Police Department's Gang Task Force, relied heavily on social media records he obtained from Facebook, Instagram, and Twitter in forming his opinion that the murder and attempted murder was

committed for the benefit of Big Block, a criminal street gang in support of the gang allegations alleged pursuant to Penal Code section 186.22(b)(1). The prosecution's theory of the case was that Mr. Sullivan and the Hunter brothers were members of Big Block criminal gang and Mr. Rice was killed because he was a member of rival gang, West Mob, and because Mr. Rice publicly threatened Quincy H. on social media. (1 AE 88.).⁴

ARGUMENT

I. <u>INTRODUCTION</u>

This case presents an important question of law regarding whether criminal defendants have the constitutional right to pretrial access to social media records necessary for a fair trial and to present a complete defense under the Due Process Clause of Fifth Amendment, as well as under the Compulsory Process and Confrontation Clauses of the Sixth Amendment guaranteed to the states by the Fourteenth Amendment. Given the

At the grand jury, Broberg testified about the important role social media played in the present case:

Well, as of all society, gangsters are now in the 21st century and they have taken on a new aspect of being gangbangers, and they do something they call cyber banging. They will actually be gangsters on the internet. They will issue challenges; will show signs of disrespect, whether it's via images or whether it's via the written word. . . Facebook, Instagram, Socialcam, Vine. .

There is any number of places they will post videos, they will post images, and of course, they will do the written word. They will disrespect each other in cyber space. (1 AE 93-94)

explosion of social media use in recent years, trial courts throughout California and nation are grappling with whether and when criminal defendants can subpoena social media records necessary to defend a case in light of the fact that social media records are increasingly offered by the prosecution as evidence without parallel access for criminal defendants under the SCA.

In this case, the Court of Appeal substantively addressed for the first time in the nation, a criminal defendant's right to access social media records under the SCA and ruled that a criminal defendant's constitutional right to a fair trial may require disclosure of social media records at trial notwithstanding the SCA's provision prohibiting disclosure of electronic records except to law enforcement. (18 U.S.C. §§ 2702, 2703, et seq.) Real parties agree that the SCA must yield to a criminal defendant's constitutional right to a fair trial. However, real parties challenge the Court of Appeal's ruling insofar as it held that criminal defendants do not have a constitutional right to *pretrial* access to this evidence and may only subpoena social media records *during* trial following an in camera review by the trial court.

Real party, Sullivan, respectfully asserts the Court of Appeal is wrong as a matter of constitutional law and also in practicality because denying pretrial access does not promote the fair administration or justice, nor the orderly ascertainment of the truth. Instead, the Court of Appeal's ruling ensures the opposite by delaying disclosure until after trial commences and then requiring continuances as they become necessary, as

indeed they will given that virtually all criminal cases use social media records as evidence and social media providers do not readily produce the records to the trial courts for review. Moreover, real parties assert that delaying access to social media records until trial without affording defense counsel reasonable pretrial investigation of the records, which are voluminous, impinges on defendants' ability to meaningfully challenge the state's evidence and, thus, runs afoul of defendants' constitutional rights to receive a fair trial, to defend a case, to effective assistance of counsel, to compulsory process, and to effectively confront and cross-examine witnesses.

Whether a criminal defendant has a constitutional right to pretrial access to social media records is an area that has not been squarely decided by the United States Supreme Court. Give that this Court is under a solemn obligation to interpret and implement the United States Constitution, it is incumbent on this Court to rule in areas of law where the United States Supreme Court has defaulted to protect the rights of the criminally accused given the important rights at stake when previous state and federal courts could not predict the ubiquitousness of social media evidence in criminal courts.

Finally, Sullivan and Hunter respectfully request that *People v.*Hammon (1997) 15 Cal.4th 1117, be overruled, or at a minimum, limited to records protected by the psycho-therapist patient privilege pursuant to Evidence Code section 1014. In ruling that criminal defendants do not have a constitutional right to pretrial access to social media records, the Court of

Appeal relied heavily upon *People v. Hammon* (1997) 15 Cal.4th 1117, which held that a child molest victim's confidential psychotherapy records could only be released to a criminal defendant *at trial*, not pretrial, upon a showing of good cause. Real parties contend *Hammon* was wrongly decided because it has created logistical problems in trial courts for the past 18 years, and also because criminal defendants do, in fact, have a constitutional right to pretrial access to evidence necessary to defend his or her case, as real parties argue here. The expansion of *Hammon* to include social media records will not only cause unnecessary chaos and backlog in criminal courts but will deny criminal defendants, the majority of whom are indigent, the ability to meaningfully challenge the state's evidence to demonstrate innocence at trial.

II. THE COURT OF APPEAL ERRED IN RULING THAT CRIMINAL DEFENDANTS DO NOT HAVE THE CONSTITUTIONAL RIGHT TO PRETRIAL, JUDICIAL REVIEW OF SOCIAL MEDIA RECORDS TO ENSURE THAT RECORDS NECESSARY FOR A FAIR TRIAL ARE PRODUCED TO THE DEFENSE

The Court of Appeal erred when it ruled that criminal defendants could not subpoen a social media records until trial on grounds that the United States Supreme Court has never squarely addressed whether a defendant has a constitutional right to a pretrial access to evidence from third-parties. The Court of Appeal cites *Weatherford v. Bursey* (1977) 429 U.S. 545, for the proposition that there is no general constitutional right to discovery in criminal cases. However, *Weatherford* is inapposite because it concerned a prosecutor's obligation to disclose to the defense unfavorable

evidence under a claimed *Brady* violation. (*Id.* at 559.) Here, we are not concerned with discovery between the prosecution and the defense, but with a defendant's right to obtain relevant evidence from third-parties in order to obtain a fair trial and to meaningfully mount a defense. *Weatherford*, therefore, sheds no light on this issue.

A. This Court is Authorized to Interpret the Federal
Constitution on the Issue of Whether a Criminal
Defendant's Has A Constitutional Right to Pretrial Access
to Social Media Records.

It is well-settled that in the absence of controlling United States Supreme Court opinion, state courts can and must make an independent determination of federal law and are not bound by decisions in the lower federal courts. (People v. Bradley (1969) 1 Cal.3d 80, 86; Barrett v. Rosenthal (2006) 40 Cal.4th 33, 58; California Assn. for Health Services at Home v. State Dep't of Health Care Servs (2012) 204 Cal. App. 4th 676, 684.) "Although the courts of California are bound by the decisions of the United States Supreme Court interpreting the federal Constitution, they are not bound by the decisions of lower federal courts, even on federal questions." (People v. Superior Court (Moore) (1996) 50 Cal. App. 4th 1202, 1211.) Given that the United States Supreme Court has yet to squarely address whether there is a constitutional right to access social media records necessary to defend a case prior to trial, this Court should not hesitate to decide the constitutional issues in light of the important issues at stake for criminal defendants who need social media records to prove innocence at trial. To that end, Justice Mosk eloquently stated the

following in his concurring opinion in *Hammon*, in which he argued that the this Court should hold that the Sixth Amendment right to confrontation includes the right to pretrial access to materials necessary to cross-examine witnesses, despite that the United States Supreme Court in *Pennsylvania v. Ritchie* (1987) 480 U.S. 39, had not reached a majority on that issue:

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