SUPREME COURT
FILED

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF CALIFORNIA

FEB 1 6 2016

No. S230051

Frank A. NicGuire Clerk

Deputy

FACEBOOK, INC., INSTAGRAM, LLC, AND TWITTER, INC., Petitioners,

v.

THE SUPERIOR COURT OF SAN FRANCISCO COUNTY, Respondent.

DERRICK D. HUNTER and LEE SULLIVAN, Real Parties in Interest.

After Published Opinion by the Court of Appeal First Appellate District, Division 5, No. A144315

Superior Court of the State of California
County of San Francisco
The Honorable Bruce Chan, Judge Presiding
Nos. 13035657, 13035658

ANSWER BRIEF ON THE MERITS

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

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The Court of Appeal correctly granted a writ of mandate directing the trial court to quash the subpoenas.

As the Court of Appeal recognized, the SCA prohibits the disclosure of the communications content that defendants seek to obtain. Specifically, the statute makes it unlawful for a provider of an electronic communication service to "divulge to any person or entity the contents of a communication while in electronic storage by that service." (18 U.S.C. § 2702(a)(1).) Although the SCA contains some exceptions, none of those exceptions would apply to a disclosure under the subpoenas sought by defendants. Here, as in the Court of Appeal, there is no dispute that enforcing the subpoena would require the Providers to violate the SCA.

Defendants instead ask this Court to declare the SCA unconstitutional as applied to this case. There is no basis for taking that drastic step, however, because the constitutional provisions on which defendants rely govern the conduct of the state, not the Providers. Whatever constitutional issues may arise as a result of the prosecution of defendants, the options for resolving those issues are left to the state in the first instance, and they do not include ordering a third party to violate a federal statute. That step is prohibited by the supremacy clause.

If this Court does consider defendants' constitutional arguments, it should reject them. This Court held in *People v. Hammon* (1997) 15 Cal.4th 1117 that there is no constitutional right to pretrial discovery. That case involved the psychotherapist-patient privilege, but the Court's reasoning was not limited to that context, and the Court has repeatedly reaffirmed *Hammon* and applied it in other contexts. Defendants have presented no justification for overruling *Hammon*.

Even setting aside *Hammon*, defendants' arguments fail because they rest on the erroneous premise that a criminal defendant must have the same tools for obtaining evidence as are available to the government. Neither the United States Supreme Court nor this Court have ever held that, and with good reason. The government may obtain search warrants to conduct physical searches and wiretaps, but that does not mean that criminal defendants must be able to do the same thing simply by issuing a subpoena. The policy reflected in the SCA is that searches of stored communications content should be treated the same way.

Defendants argue that access to the content they seek is necessary for their defense. However, that argument is undermined by their failure to pursue the many options available to them for obtaining the same content in a manner consistent with the SCA. They could, for example, seek to obtain the content from the parties to the communication or from the People.

Alternatively, they could seek non-content information from the Providers (invoking the provisions of the SCA that permit such information to be disclosed more readily than content), and they could use that information to develop additional evidence.

Defendants' claim of a due process entitlement to the communications content at issue is also unpersuasive because it gives short shrift to the important privacy interests that the SCA protects. The SCA allows disclosure if directed by a warrant, which requires a judicial finding of probable cause. A pretrial criminal defense subpoena, by contrast, often issues with no review at all. Defendants point out that social media has become an important means of communication, but as the United States Supreme Court has observed, the ubiquity of modern technology should not lessen the privacy protections afforded to such communications. (See *Riley v. California* (2014) 134 S.Ct. 2473.)

Finally, defendants invoke various other provisions of the Constitution. Their arguments are largely derivative of their flawed due process arguments, and they founder because no court has recognized a right to third-party discovery in these circumstances. This Court should not take that step for the first time where doing so would require invalidating an Act of Congress.

ARGUMENT

A. Federal law prohibits the Providers from complying with defendants' subpoenas

The SCA is a federal criminal statute that makes it unlawful for a provider of an electronic communication service to "divulge to any person or entity the contents of a communication while in electronic storage by that service." (18 U.S.C. § 2702(a)(1).) The statute defines "contents" to include "any information concerning the substance, purport, or meaning" of an electronic communication. (18 U.S.C. § 2510(8).) Depending on the

circumstances, that broad definition could encompass such materials as the text of an email, message, or tweet, or the images or audio in a photograph, video, or sound recording.

The SCA enumerates only a few, narrow exceptions to the prohibition on disclosing the contents of a communication. Some of the exceptions permit a provider to disclose content when doing so is necessary to providing the service. (See, e.g., 18 U.S.C. § 2702(b)(1), (5).) Others allow a provider to disclose content with the express consent of the user, or in the case of "an emergency involving danger of death or serious physical injury." (See, e.g., 18 U.S.C. § 2702(b)(3), (6).)

Significantly, the statutory exceptions do not include responding to a subpoena issued at the behest of a criminal defendant. Instead, compelled disclosure of communications content can take place only in response to a search warrant "issued using the procedures described in the Federal Rules of Criminal Procedure (or, in the case of a State court, issued using state warrant procedures)." (18 U.S.C. § 2703(a).) For certain categories of content, the statute permits a "governmental entity" to require disclosure under an administrative subpoena or court order obtained by the governmental entity. (18 U.S.C. § 2703(b)(1)(B).) Courts have held, however, that because customers enjoy a reasonable expectation of privacy in the content of their electronic communications, a warrant based on probable cause is required in that context as well. (See, e.g., United States v. Warshak (6th Cir. 2010) 631 F.3d 266, 288; accord United States v. Hanna (6th Cir. 2011) 661 F.3d 271, 287, fn.4; see also United States v. Forrester (9th Cir. 2007) 512 F.3d 500, 512 [likening email content to the contents of physical mail, and noting that "the contents [of email] may deserve Fourth Amendment protection"].) And in any event, a disclosure under a subpoena obtained by a criminal defendant is not a disclosure

Programme Asset Section (1997)

required by a "governmental entity." (See 18 U.S.C. § 2711(4) [defining "governmental entity"].)

When the SCA prohibits a disclosure, it preempts any provision of state law that would require that disclosure. (U.S. Const., art. VI; *Olszewski v. Scripps Health* (2003) 30 Cal.4th 798, 815 [explaining that a state law conflicts with federal law, and is therefore preempted, "where it is impossible for a private party to comply with both state and federal requirements"].) For that reason, "California's discovery laws cannot be enforced in a way that compels [a provider] to make disclosures violating the [SCA]." (*Negro v. Superior Court* (2015) 230 Cal.App.4th 879, 888-89; see *O'Grady v. Superior Court* (2006) 139 Cal.App.4th 1423, 1442 [holding that it would be an "unlawful act" for a service provider to comply with a subpoena seeking the content of a user's communications, even if required to do so by a court order].)

In the circumstances of this case, the SCA contains no exception that would permit the Providers to comply with the subpoenas by disclosing the contents of communications to defendants. Accordingly, as the Court of Appeal recognized, "[i]it is undisputed that the materials Defendants seek here are subject to the SCA's protections." (*Facebook*, 240 Cal.App.4th at p. 213.) In this Court, defendants do not take issue with that proposition. (Defts.' Br. at p. 10 [recognizing that the SCA does not provide "parallel access for criminal defendants" to "social media records"].)

B. Even if defendants' constitutional arguments were correct, the supremacy clause would prohibit enforcement of the subpoenas

Recognizing that the SCA prohibits the disclosures they seek, defendants argue that the Constitution entitles them to have the subpoenas enforced—in other words, that the SCA is unconstitutional as applied in this case. As explained below, defendants' constitutional arguments lack

merit. But even if those arguments were valid, they would not support the remedy defendants seek.²

The provisions of the Constitution on which defendants rely include the due process clause, the compulsory process clause, and other clauses of the Fifth and Sixth Amendments that govern the actions of the state in criminal prosecutions. Those provisions do not impose obligations on the providers, who are private parties. (Lugar v. Edmondson Oil Co. (1982) 457 U.S. 922, 924 [explaining that the Constitution "can be violated only by conduct that may be fairly characterized as 'state action'"].) The due process clause, for example, provides, "nor shall any State deprive any person of life, liberty, or property, without due process of law." (U.S. Const., 14th Amend., § 1 [emphasis added].) If defendants were correct that it would violate due process to subject them to criminal prosecution without affording them access to the records they seek, then the appropriate remedy would be to prevent the state from subjecting defendants to criminal prosecution in those circumstances—whether by setting aside the indictment, by limiting the evidence the People can present, or by developing another remedy within the framework of the criminal prosecution. It would not be to order the Providers to violate federal law. Under the supremacy clause, a state court lacks authority to issue such an order to the Providers. (See U.S. Const., art. VI.)

Defendants say that "California courts have routinely granted pretrial access to evidence to criminal defendants under the due process clause even in the face of conflicting statutes and constitutional

² In their petition, defendants described the first issue presented for review as "whether criminal defendants are constitutionally entitled to *pretrial* access to social media records." (Petn. for Rev. at p. 2.) That issue necessarily encompasses the question whether ordering access to those records would be an appropriate remedy for any constitutional violation defendants have identified.

provisions." (Defts.' Br. at p. 18.) They rely on cases in which courts held that the state government was required to disclose information in its possession to a criminal defendant (e.g., *DMV v. Superior Court* (2002) 100 Cal.App.4th 363), or that a defendant's due process rights could limit a state-law evidentiary privilege (e.g., *Rubio v. Superior Court* (1988) 202 Cal.App.3d 1343). However, they cite no case in which a state court ordered a private party to violate a *federal* statute. So far as we are aware, none exists.

To illustrate the flaw in defendants' position, consider the predicament that the Providers would be in if the trial court enforced the subpoenas at issue here. If the Providers were to comply with the subpoenas, they would risk being claimed to have violated 18 U.S.C. § 2702(a) because, as explained above, that provision contains no exception permitting disclosure in response to a subpoena issued by a criminal defendant. Providers could therefore be required to defend against alleged liability under 18 U.S.C. § 2707(a) in a civil action brought by any person aggrieved by the disclosure. While the SCA creates a defense for good-faith reliance on a court order, courts have not ruled on the applicability of that defense in these circumstances, where the order does not comply with the requirements of the statute. (18 U.S.C. § 2707(e).) In short, the trial court would have created an insoluble dilemma. On the one hand, it would be the height of unfairness to allow the Providers to face potential liability under the SCA for complying with the court's order. On the other hand, the only alternative would be to say that a state court somehow has the authority to license a violation of a federal statute—a proposition that plainly contradicts the supremacy clause.

When a federal statute such as the SCA prohibits the disclosure of information, the appropriate course is that followed in the analogous context of cases involving classified information. Just as the SCA prohibits

the Providers from disclosing the content of the communications sought by the defendants in this case, federal statutes also prohibit those with access to classified information from disclosing it without appropriate authorization. (See, e.g., 18 U.S.C. § 793(d).) In this regard, the United States Supreme Court has held that, in a criminal case, "[i]f the Government refuses to provide state-secret information that the accused reasonably asserts is necessary to his defense, the prosecution must be dismissed." (General Dynamics Corp. v. United States (2011) 131 S.Ct. 1900, 1906; see Jencks v. United States (1957) 353 U.S. 657, 672.) Of course, in a federal prosecution, if the government deems the prosecution sufficiently important, it may choose to authorize the release of classified information. A state, however, does not have that option. If the disclosure of classified information is necessary to preserve a defendant's right to a fair trial in a state criminal case, a state court may not defy federal law and order the information released. Rather, it must set aside the indictment.

This Court recognized those principles in *People v. Farley* (2009) 46 Cal.4th 1053. In that case, Farley had been found guilty of first-degree murder, and at the penalty phase of his trial, he sought "access to data concerning his past employment" as a cryptologic technician in the Navy and as a defense contractor working on top-secret projects, which he intended to introduce as mitigating evidence. (*Id.* at p. 1077-79, 1124-27.) Among other things, Farley sought to introduce the testimony of Kent Wells, a Navy personnel security specialist. (*Id.* at 1126.) The trial court ruled, however, "that it could not order Wells to disclose classified information, because doing so could subject him to criminal prosecution." (*Ibid.*) Farley was sentenced to death. On appeal, Farley challenged the trial court's exclusion of classified evidence, but neither Farley nor this Court suggested that "there was error . . . in the trial court's rulings concerning the discovery of classified information," and neither Farley nor this Court

questioned the correctness of the trial court's determination that it could not compel Wells to disclose information protected by a federal statute. (*Ibid.*) Ultimately, the Court affirmed the sentence after determining that the information Farley sought to introduce was not relevant. (*Id.* at 1128-29.)

The approach employed in *Farley* is appropriate here. The Fifth and Sixth Amendments, as applied to the state through the Fourteenth Amendment, limit the authority of the state in the conduct of a criminal prosecution. They do not, however, empower a state court to disregard the supremacy of federal law by ordering the Providers to violate the SCA. Thus, even if the People's decision to prosecute defendants in these circumstances has given rise to a constitutional violation, the available remedies for that violation would not include enforcing the trial court's subpoenas (whether issued before trial or during trial). Because that is the only remedy defendants have sought, the Court of Appeal correctly rejected it and ordered the subpoenas quashed.

C. Hammon forecloses defendants' constitutional claims

Even if the trial court had authority to enforce the subpoenas against the Providers, it would be inappropriate for it to do so. Defendants' claim that the Constitution gives them a right to conduct pretrial discovery—a right that overrides a contrary statute—is flatly contrary to this Court's decision *People v. Hammon* (1997) 15 Cal.4th 1117. Defendants acknowledge as much but respond by asking this Court to confine *Hammon* to its facts or, failing that, to overrule the decision. This Court should decline the invitation.

In *Hammon*, this Court considered whether a defendant accused of committing lewd acts on a minor could compel the victim's psychotherapists to disclose records about the victim. The defendant claimed that access to the records was necessary to allow him to cross-examine the victim, but the trial court quashed a subpoena on the basis of

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